1984

# Guardian State Bank, a Utah corporation v. F.C. Stangl III : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant Guardian State Bank ("Guardian") filed this action to recover the amount due from Respondent F.C. Stangl ("Stangl") on a Promissory Note executed in favor of Guardian dated May 11, 1981, and for fraud and declaratory relief. Stangl admitted liability on that Note but filed a Counterclaim seeking to recover from Guardian on Guardian's indorsement of a previous Promissory Note which Stangl had guaranteed. A Third-Party Complaint filed by Guardian against its attorneys for negligence in the subject transaction is not involved in this Appeal.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The District Court granted Stangl's Motion for a directed verdict. Judgment was thereafter entered by the Court on June 19, 1984.

## NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Guardian seeks an Order reversing the Judgment below in favor of Stangl on his Counterclaim with directions to enter Judgment on the Counterclaim in favor of Guardian, and awarding Guardian its attorneys' fees and costs incurred in the Court below and on Appeal. In the alternative, Guardian seeks an Order reversing the Judgment and remanding the case for a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### A. Preliminary Statement.

The directed verdict in favor of Stangl was only proper if, as a matter of law, reasonable minds could not differ on the facts to be determined from the evidence presented at trial so that Stangl was entitled to Judgment as a matter of law. The District Court was not free to weigh the evidence in deciding the Motion for Directed Verdict and was obligated to view the evidence in the light most favorable to Guardian. See, e.g., Management Committee of Greystone Pines Homeowners Association v. Graystone Pines, Inc., 652 P.2d 896 (Utah 1982); Anderson v. Gribble, 513 P.2d 432 (Utah 1973).

Most of the facts set forth below are undisputed. In those instances where the facts are in dispute, the facts presented by Guardian are set forth in accordance with the foregoing standards and Stangl's conflicting testimony is set forth in footnotes.

### B. Facts.

At all relevant times Stangl was an officer, director and 50% shareholder in Sargetis Fine Cars, Inc. (the "dealership"), which owned and

operated a car dealership in Price, Utah. The other principal of the dealership was John Sargetis ("Sargetis"). Stangl also owned the property upon which the dealership conducted its business and leased that property to the dealership. [R. 341; 604, line 24 - 605, line 1]

On or about August 28, 1979, the dealership obtained a loan in the principal sum of \$150,000.00 from Empire State Bank, which was the predecessor-in-interest to Guardian.<sup>1</sup> To evidence that loan, the dealership executed a Promissory Note (the "original Note") in favor of Guardian in the total principal sum of \$150,000.00, bearing interest at the rate of 1.5% above Chase Manhattan Bank prime, payable upon demand. [Ex. D-1; R. 341; 558, lines 17-25] As a condition of making the subject loan, both Stangl and Sargetis individually were required to and did execute a continuing Guaranty of all the debts and obligations owing to Guardian by the dealership. [Ex. D-2; 341, 560, lines 11-24] Stangl understood at the time he executed the Guaranty that if the dealership did not pay the original Note, he was obligated to do so. [R. 606, lines 5-8]

The dealership subsequently went out of business, and in December 1980, assigned its remaining assets to the National Association of Credit Men ("N.A.C.M.") for liquidation as a Trustee for the benefit of creditors. [R. 653, lines 6-11]

As of April 1981, no principal payments had been made on the original Note for approximately one year. [R. 702, line 23 - 703, line 3]. In April 1981, Russell Webb, who was then the newly installed President of Guardian, met with Stangl at Guardian's offices to discuss the delinquent

---

<sup>1</sup> Empire was merged into Guardian in April 1982 [R. 338] and both entities will hereinafter be referred to as "Guardian".

loan and told Stangl that Stangl, as a Guarantor, would have to pay the original Note. Stangl was very cooperative at the meeting and agreed that he had a responsibility to pay the original Note. However, Stangl represented that he was not in a position to pay the full amount of the Note at that time and requested a repayment program whereby Stangl would execute a new Promissory Note payable one-half within sixty or ninety days and the other half within another year. [R. 555, lines 20-23; 561, line 19 - 562, line 10] Stangl told Mr. Webb he was concerned that by paying off the Note he would lose his right to get any recovery from the assets of the dealership being liquidated by the N.A.C.M. [R. 626, lines 19-25] Stangl also told Mr. Webb that he wanted Guardian to give him the original Note and Guaranty so that he could attempt to collect from the assets of the dealership and from Sargetis individually. [R. 510, lines 1-5; 601, Lines 6-10] These terms were agreed to by Mr. Webb. [R. 628, lines 1-7] Stangl did not tell Mr. Webb that he wanted Guardian to indorse the original Note to him so that he could impose liability on Guardian. [R. 514, lines 11-20; 600, Line 25 - 601, line 10] If Stangl would have told Mr. Webb that he would seek to impose liability upon Guardian on the original Note, Guardian would, of course, not have entered into the transaction. [R. 573, lines 14 - 574, line 11]<sup>2</sup>

Although all of the terms with respect to the repayment of the original Note were agreed to by Mr. Webb and Stangl directly, Jerry

---

<sup>2</sup> Stangl did not contradict this testimony except to contend that during the meeting he had initially objected to paying the original Note principally because he thought the Note was to be amortized over five years instead of payable on demand. Stangl specifically acknowledged that an agreement had been reached concerning repayment in his meeting with Mr. Webb and that he told Mr. Webb he wanted the Note and Guaranty to try to collect from the dealership. [R. 90, line 21 - 93, line 76; 101, lines 4-13]

Dearinger ("Dearinger"), the lawyer for Guardian, and Bruce Maak ("Maak"), the lawyer for Stangl, were to document the transaction to conform to the agreement reached between Stangl and Guardian. [R. 567, line 22 - 568, line 6; 629, lines 16-24; 674, lines 17-22]

Dearinger and Maak subsequently did undertake to document the agreement. Dearinger testified that in his conversations with Maak, Maak told him that although he had advised Stangl that he thought Stangl had some unspecified defenses on the Guaranty, Stangl wanted to go ahead and make payment to Guardian on his Guaranty. Maak also told Mr. Dearinger that Stangl wanted to protect his good credit in town so he was willing to pay the Guaranty, but didn't have the funds to pay it at that moment, so if transaction was structured so that Stangl could pay the Guaranty over a period of time, Stangl would be willing to pay the Guaranty. Maak told Dearinger that if Stangl paid the loan, he should be assigned Guardian's rights against the dealership and Sargetis upon the original Note and Guaranty, and that the only reason Stangl wanted the original Note and Guaranty was so that Stangl could pursue John Sargetis and the dealership. [R. 640, line 25 - 642, line 1; 645, lines 1-6] Maak told Dearinger that he wanted the transaction structured as a purchase of the original Note with a new Note to make it clear the original Note was not being paid off, consistent with Stangl's concern that by paying the Note he would forfeit any right to recover dealership assets from the N.A.C.M. [R. 670, lines 4-10]<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> Although Maak denied that he ever told Dearinger that the only reason Stangl wanted the original Note and Guaranty was to pursue Sargetis and the dealership, he acknowledged that he might have told Dearinger that was one of the reasons. [R. 686, lines 8-13] Maak also acknowledged that he never told Dearinger or Guardian that the reason he wanted the original Note and Guaranty in the form he required was so that Stangl could hold Guardian liable on its indorsement and escape liability to Guardian. [R. 150, lines 18 - 151, line 7]

While Stangl intentionally led Guardian to believe that he intended to pay his obligation to the Bank on the Guaranty by executing a new Promissory Note which would give Stangl additional time for the payment of the obligation, Stangl and his attorney in fact had no such intent. Rather, Stangl intended to attempt to evade any obligation to Guardian on the Guaranty or the new Note by getting Guardian to indorse the original Note with recourse, transfer the original Note and Guaranty to Stangl, and then hold Guardian liable on its indorsement if the amount of the original Note could not be collected from the dealership. [R. 711, line 22 - 712, line 1; 671, line 18 - 672, line 6; 695, lines 7-14; 691, lines 6-19; 637, lines 8-15]

To carry out this scheme, on May 14, 1981, Stangl paid interest current on the original Note in the sum of \$8,104.00 and executed a new Promissory Note in favor of Guardian in the principal sum of \$132,000.00, representing the unpaid principal balance of the original Note. The new Note provided for interest at the rate of 1% above Chase Manhattan Bank prime (one-half percent less than the original Note) and was to be repaid in two equal installments on or before July 10, 1981 and July 10, 1982. The new Note recited it was given for the purchase of the original Note. [Ex. P-10; R. 342; 632, lines 2-8] Pursuant to the agreement of the parties, Guardian at that time also assigned and delivered to Stangl the Guaranty of the original Note which Stangl and Sargetis had executed, and the original Note itself which was indorsed by Guardian. Guardian's indorsement did not contain any indication on its face that it was without recourse. [Exs. D-1 & D-2; R. 342] Immediately upon completing this transaction, it was Stangl's position that he had no further liability to Guardian, which was the result

he intended the transaction to accomplish. [R. 637, lines 8-15; 711, line 22 - 712, line 1] Of Course, this position was not communicated to Guardian.

After Stangl executed the new Promissory Note and acquired the original Note and Guaranty from Guardian, Stangl claims to have made some minimal efforts to collect the original Note from the assets of the dealership and from Sargetis individually. However, no funds were ever collected and Stangl never made any payments on the new Note. [R. 680, line 10 - 681, line 3; 712, lines 15-17] By the Fall of 1981, Stangl undeniably knew that the original Note could not be collected from the dealership because Ford Motor Credit had a perfected security interest in all of the assets of the dealership. [R. 682, lines 10-21] Nevertheless, Stangl made no demand upon Guardian for payment of the original Note until approximately one year later in September, 1982 in response to a demand by Guardian for payment of the new Promissory Note. [R. 342]

Guardian then commenced this action in the Fall of 1982, seeking to recover the amount owing from Stangl on the new Promissory Note. Guardian also sought recovery for fraud based on Stangl's misrepresentations and omissions which induced Guardian to indorse the original Note and assign the Guaranty to Stangl. Finally, Guardian sought declaratory relief with respect to the rights of the parties on the original Note and Guaranty. [R. 2-6] Stangl answered the Complaint admitting liability on the new Note, and filed a Counter-claim seeking to recover from Guardian on Guardian's indorsement of the original Note in an amount in excess of that which was owed to Guardian on the new Note. [R 10-16]

Some months after the action was filed, Guardian was granted leave to file a Third-Party Complaint against its attorneys in the transaction



with Stangl, Jerry Dearinger and the firm of Kirton & McConkie. Guardian sought recovery from the Third-Party Defendants on the basis that if Stangl was entitled to recover from Guardian on its indorsement of the original Note, the Third-Party Defendants were liable to Guardian for negligence. [R. 101-105]

The case went to trial before a Jury on May 21 - 23, 1984. After Guardian and Stangl had rested their cases as against each other, Stangl moved for a directed verdict on the basis that as a matter of law Guardian was indebted to Stangl on the original Note in an amount in excess of Stangl's liability to Guardian on the new Note. [R. 727, line 12; 728, line 17] Guardian also moved for a directed verdict. [R. 751, lines 14-20] Although the District Court believed that the result was "so grossly unfair", the Court did not feel that there was any legal basis upon which to grant relief to Guardian and granted Stangl's Motion for Directed Verdict. [R. 759, line 23 - 760, line 6]

The action between Guardian and the Third-Party Defendants was then submitted to the jury, which determined that the Third-Party Defendants had been 55% negligent with respect to the transaction, that Guardian had been 45% negligent and that Guardian's damages were \$202,021.00. [R. 406-409]

Thereafter, on June 19, 1984, the Court entered its Judgment in favor of Stangl in the net amount of \$2,001.69, together with interest and in favor of Guardian against the Third-Party Defendants in accordance with the jury's verdict in the sum of \$106,711.55. [R. 439-441] No appeal has been filed with respect to the portion of the Judgment in favor of Guardian and against Third-Party Defendants, and that portion of the Judgment has been paid.

Based upon the foregoing facts and for the reasons hereinafter set forth, it is respectfully submitted that the District Court's conclusion that it could not deny Stangl the fruits of his well-devised charade was in error. Guardian submits that it is entitled to Judgment as a matter of law, or at the very least to a new trial.

### ARGUMENT

#### I. EVEN IF GUARDIAN'S INDORSEMENT OF THE ORIGINAL NOTE IS VALID, GUARDIAN IS NOT LIABLE TO STANGL.

Under Section II of this Brief we demonstrate that Guardian's indorsement of the original Note is invalid and unenforceable by Stangl for a number of reasons. However, even if it is assumed for purposes of argument that the indorsement is enforceable, Guardian has no liability to Stangl on the original Note for the reasons set forth below.

#### A. Guardian is Entitled to be Subrogated to All Rights of Stangl Under the Original Note and Guaranty.

Stangl's position in this lawsuit is that because Guardian's indorsement of the original Note did not recite on its face that it was "without recourse" Guardian is liable for the full amount of that Note as a matter of law. Assuming for purposes of argument that the District Court was correct in determining that Guardian is liable to Stangl on Guardian's indorsement of the original Note, Guardian is entitled as a matter of law to be subrogated to all of Stangl's rights with respect to the indebtedness which is the subject of the original Note. Guardian's right of subrogation includes the right to recover from both Stangl and Sargetis on the

continuing Guaranty of that indebtedness which they executed. Consequently, any liability of Guardian on the original Note is offset by Stangl's liability to Guardian on the Guaranty of that Note.

Under the Utah Uniform Commercial Code an indorser is a type of surety. See, e.g., First New Haven National Bank v. Clarke, 368 A.2d 613, 614 (Conn. 1976) ("more than that of any other party to commercial paper, the indorser's liability is like that of a surety."); 2 Hart & Miller, Commercial Paper Under the U.C.C. (1984); J. White & R. Summers, Uniform Commercial Code, p. 426 (1980); Wladis, U.C.C. Art. 3 Suretyship and the Holder In Due Course: Requiem for Good Samaritan, 70 Georgetown Law Journal 975, 979 (1982); Noble, The Surety and Article 3: A New Identity For an Old Friend, 19 Duquesne Law Review 245, 261 (1981); U.C.C Sec. 3-606 Comment 5 ("the suretyship defense stated has been generally recognized as available to indorsers or accommodation parties.")

It has long been the law in this Country, both before and after the Uniform Commercial Code was adopted, that once an indorser, surety or accommodation party pays a note he stands in the shoes of the creditor and is subrogated to all of the creditor's rights not only on the note but on the underlying obligation. For example, in N. J. Gendron Lumber v. Great Northern Homes, 395 N.E.2d 457 (Mass. 1979), the Court held that an indorser who had paid a promissory note could not only recover against the maker but against a guarantor of the obligation represented by the Note. See also, Halpin v. Fankenberger, 644 P.2d 452 (Kan. 1982); Reimann v. Hybertsen, 550 P.2d 436 (Ore. 1976); Simpson v. Bilderbeck, Inc., 417 P.2d 803 (N.M. 1966); Alavolasiti v. Versailles Gardens Land Development Co., 371 So.2d 755 (La. 1979); Mutual Benefit Life Insurance Co. v. McGraw, 259 N.W. 507 (1935);

Miami Mortgage & Guaranty Co. v. Drawdy, 127 So. 323 (Fla. 1930); Northern Bank & Trust Co. v. Slater, Walt & Co., 212 P. 1063 (Wash. 1923); Wallace v. Jones, 72 A. 769 (Md. 1909); Hartzell v. McClurg, 74 N.W. 626 (Neb. 1898); The Surety and Article 3: A New Identity For an Old Friend, 19 Duquesne Law Review 245, 261 (1981); Simpson on Suretyship, Sec. 47 (1950); U.C.C. Sec. 3-606, Comment 1 (recognizing that a surety has a "right of recourse either on the instrument or dehors it.")

The right of an indorser upon payment of a note to all of the creditor's rights in the note and the underlying obligation is simply one application of the principle of equitable subrogation. That principle is not displaced by the Code, but supplements its provisions. Utah Code Annotated, Sec. 70A-1-103. The purpose of subrogation was set forth by this Court in Allstate Insurance Co. v. Ivie, 606 P.2d 1197, 1202 (Ut. 1980) as follows:

"Subrogation is a creature of equity, its purpose is to work out an equitable adjustment between the parties by securing the ultimate discharge of a debt by the person who, in equity and in good conscience ought to pay it."

Another author describes the principle as follows:

"Upon his payment of the principal's debt, the surety has the right to be substituted to the position of the creditor whom he pays. This is known as the surety's right of subrogation. Whether or not the surety upon payment has taken an assignment from the creditor of the latter's rights, equity will treat him as an assignee. Subrogation is equitable assignment. . . . Subrogation entitles the surety to use any remedy against the principal which the creditor could have used, and in general to enjoy the benefit of any advantage that the creditor had, such as . . . to proceed against a third person who has promised either the principal or the creditor to pay the debt." Simpson on Suretyship, supra., at p. 205. [Emphasis added]

Similarly, in Moyer v. Colyer, 283 P.2d 815 (Okla. 1955), the Court observed:

"What rights did the sureties have upon payment of the note in question? As a general rule where a bill or note has been paid by a party who is only secondarily liable, the party paying will be subrogated to all rights and remedies which were available to the holder or owner of the instrument in order to obtain payment thereof." (Id. at 818)

In the present case, Stangl was clearly a primary obligor on the debt pursuant to his written Guaranty. See, Ex. D-2; Strevell-Paterson Co., Inc. v. Francis, 646 P.2d 741 (Ut. 1982). The evidence produced by Stangl in the Court below did not even approach raising any defense to the Guaranty. The only purported defense raised by Stangl was that sometime after the August 1979 transaction in which he signed the guaranty, he was told that the original Note would be amortized over five years when, in fact, the Note was payable on demand. It is totally irrelevant what Stangl was told after he had already obligated himself on the Guaranty. More importantly, even if the original Note had been payable in installments over a period of five years, the evidence was undisputed that the installments were not paid and in fact no principal had been paid on the original Note for a year before demand was made on Stangl on his Guaranty. Therefore, Guardian legally had the right to accelerate the original Note pursuant to the acceleration provision contained therein and demand payment in full. Kixx, Inc. v. Stallion Music, Inc., 610 P.2d 1385 (Ut. 1980); Commercial Security Bank v. Corporation Nine, 600 P.2d 1000 (Ut. 1979).

Consequently, even if Guardian is liable as an indorser of the original Note, Guardian is subrogated to all Stangl's rights in the original Note and Guaranty and is entitled to collect the full amount of the original Note from Stangl based on the Guaranty. The liabilities, therefore, offset each other as a matter of law.

B. Any Liability of Guardian on its Indorsement Was Discharged  
When Stangl Acquired the Original Note.

Utah Code Annotated, Sec. 70A-3-208 provides:

"Where an instrument is returned to or re-acquired by a prior party . . .any intervening party is discharged as against the re-acquiring party, and subsequent holders not in due course . . ."

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