1984

# Guardian State Bank, a Utah corporation v. F.C. Stangl III : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

THIS APPEAL WAS NOT TIMELY FILED.

Unless the order of the lower court extending the time for filing the appeal herein is proper and is further given nunc pro tunc effect, this appeal is untimely.

But for the filing of Rule 50(b) and 59 motions, the Notice of Appeal here should have been filed by July 18, 1984. The post-trial motions terminate the running of the time for appeal until entry in the Register of Actions of an order "granting or denying" such motions. Rule 73(a), URCP. No such order was ever entered in this case. The motions were voluntarily withdrawn by counsel. [R. 463] Upon withdrawal of said motions the appeal time expired. The motion to extend time for filing the appeal was not filed until the day following the withdrawal and the order granting the extension motion was not entered until 20 days after the withdrawal on September 4, 1984. [R. 496] Thus, when the Notice of Appeal was filed on

August 17, 1984, it was out of time and no order extending the filing time had been entered.<sup>1</sup>

Even if we are to assume that the September 4, 1984 order extending the appeal time is to be given retroactive effect, a problem remains because the motion to extend was improperly granted. Per Rule 73(a), URCP the appeal time can be extended only "upon a showing of excusable neglect." When the excusable neglect standard is applied in a jurisdictional context, as here, the standard is necessarily a strict one. Prowswood, Inc. v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co., 676 P.2d 952, 959 (Utah 1984). This court has stated that:

Inadvertence or mistake of counsel does not constitute the type of unique or extraordinary circumstances contemplated by this strict standard.

\* \* \*

a flat mistake of counsel about the meaning of a statute or rule may not justify relief: relief is not extended "to cover any kind of garden variety oversight." Id. at 960.

Here, there is no record whatever to establish a showing of excusable neglect, save and except the recitation in the lower

---

<sup>1</sup>It is the Order, not the minute entry which is the controlling document and which truly embodies the ruling of the court. Cook v. Gardner, 381 P.2d 78, 80 (Utah 1963). Further, an order cannot be given nunc pro tunc effect where it is being used to "revive time for taking a required step in a legal proceeding after the statutory time for doing it has elapsed." Utah State Building Board v. Walsh Plumbing Co., 399 P.2d 141, 144 (Utah 1965).

court's order that "withdrawal of the . . . motion was a mistake and plaintiff simply should have requested a denial of its motion." [R. 497]

Thus, we have a simple mistake of counsel in reading the Rules of Civil Procedure as the sole justification for excusable neglect to support extension of the appeal time. This court has found such a mistake to be insufficient. Id. The lower court thus abused its discretion in extending the appeal time; consequently, this appeal is untimely and should be forthwith dismissed.

## POINT II

### BANK MAY NOT RAISE AND ADVANCE ARGUMENTS FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

It is axiomatic that matters not presented to the trial court may not be raised for the first time on appeal. Franklin Financial v. New Empire Development Co., 659 P.2d 1040, 1044 (Utah 1983). All of the arguments raised by Bank under Point I of its brief on appeal (Appellant's Brief, pp. 9-17) are advanced for the first time on appeal. They were not framed, briefed or argued at the trial level. Thus they may not properly be considered here. Id.

However, even if such arguments were properly raised and advanced, they are without merit.



**A. Bank Has No Rights Under The Guaranty.**

Bank claims that under principles of equitable subrogation it is entitled to recover from Stangl once it reacquires and pays the Sargetis Note because Stangl guaranteed that note.

First and foremost, the guaranty instrument is a separate and distinct instrument from the Sargetis Note. [Cf. Exhibits 1 and 2] The note makes no mention of the guaranty and is a fully enforceable and negotiable instrument separate and distinct from the guaranty. [Ex. 1] Stangl acquired the guaranty, is the owner of it and Bank has no rights whatever under it. Concurrently with Bank's becoming liable on the Sargetis Note by indorsement, it assigned away to Stangl any and all rights it may have had under the guaranty. [Ex. 2]

In addition to the argument that Bank cannot enforce a guaranty it does not own or hold, three additional arguments bar Bank's subrogation claim. First, subrogation is an equitable remedy. Simson v. Bilderbeck, Inc., 417 P.2d 803 (N.M. 1966). Bank elected here to bring an action at law for damages and, as noted above, did not plead a subrogation claim below.

Secondly, Bank fails to draw the distinction between the situation where a co-maker discharges an obligation and seeks recovery against the other maker, and the case at bar where an indorser seeks recovery from an accommodation guarantor who has since reacquired his guaranty. None of the cases cited by Bank

at pages 10 and 11 of its brief deal with a fact situation similar to the instant case. For example: N.J. Gendron Lumber v. Great Northern Homes, Inc., 8 Mass. App. Ct. 411, 395 N.E.2d 457 (1979) [plaintiff owned the guaranty and was originally the guaranteed party]; Halpin v. Fankenberger, 644 P.2d 452 (Kan. 1982) [action by co-guarantor against co-guarantor and creditor; no indorsement involved; action against creditor failed]; Simson v. Bilderbeck, Inc., supra [suit by accommodation maker against maker; no guaranty or indorsement involved]; Moyer v. Colyer, 283 P.2d 815 (Okla. 1955) [a lien priority action between a guarantor who had satisfied a debt and taken possession of collateral and a third party judgment creditor seeking attachment of the collateral].

Finally, the promissory note has merged into the judgment entered in this action and no longer exists as an instrument upon which a subrogation claim may be based. Yergensen v. Ford, 402 P.2d 696, 697 (Utah 1965). If Bank had wanted to pursue this avenue it would have had to voluntarily pay the Sargetis Note, reacquire the same prior to judgment being entered upon it and then pursue its theory. This it did not do. The rule of merger is a laudable one because without it litigation would never end. Here, the Sargetis Note was reduced to judgment, merged into the judgment and lost its

character as a promissory note. Bank may not revive it and pursue further claims based thereon.

B. Bank Has Not Been Discharged.

Bank also argues that Stangl's acquisition of the Sargetis Note operated to discharge it by virtue of the operation of UCA § 70A-3-208 (1953). This argument, raised for the first time on appeal, must fail. Where the guaranty in question is a separate contract and is not negotiated with the note, by its own terms the statute is inapplicable. In order for the discharge provisions of § 3-208 to apply, the transaction must involve an "instrument" as defined by § 3-102 and the reacquiring party must have been a "party" to such instrument. The instrument in question here is the Sargetis Note. Stangl was not a party to that note--the parties were Empire State Bank and John Sargetis Fine Cars, Inc. dba John Sargetis Ford, Inc. Bank has cited two cases for the supposed proposition that a "party" to the instrument (note) includes those executing separate guarantys for purposes of § 3-208. The cases cited are: Commerce Bank of St. Louis v. Wright, 645 S.W.2d 17 (Mo. App. 1982) and Provident Bank v. Gast, 57 Ohio St. 2d 102, 386 N.E.2d 1357 (1979). Those cases do not stand for the proposition cited. They do not even deal with the code section in question. Rather, they are cases involving the definition of "party" under § 3-606(1)(b) of the UCC which deals with the

question of whether a guarantor, co-maker or surety is discharged from their obligations when the holder releases or otherwise impairs collateral securing a note. They are fundamentally inapplicable here. A simple reading of § 3-208 leads one inexorably to conclude that it does not apply because Stangl was not a party to the Sargetis Note.<sup>2</sup> It is unnecessary to address cases dealing with other statutes that say black is white. The fact is: Stangl was not a party to the Sargetis Note, he did not sign it and thus the cited statute does not apply.

C. Bank Is Not An "Accommodation Indorser."

The final commercial argument raised for the first time on appeal by Bank is that Bank was an accommodation indorser and therefore cannot be held liable to the accommodated party, citing UCA § 70A-3-415(5). The simple answer to this argument is that Bank was not an accommodation indorser. Bank owned the note. It was selling the note to Stangl in exchange for a new note with him as maker. Generally, if you are in the chain of title, the presumption is that you are not an accommodation party. Likewise, if you are not in the chain of title, the

---

<sup>2</sup>Under the UCC, in order to be liable to the holder of an instrument your signature must appear on it. UCA § 70A-3-401 (1953).

presumption arises that you are an accommodation party. See, UCA § 70A-3-415(4) (1953). Here, Bank is in the chain of title. It received consideration for the indorsement (a new note), and it has advanced no evidence or theory to show it was an accommodation indorser.<sup>3</sup> Its argument must fail.

### POINT III

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING A  
DIRECTED VERDICT IN FAVOR OF STANGL.

To place the ruling of the trial court in proper perspective, it is critical to analyze just what the Bank was trying to accomplish with this lawsuit and how it was trying to do it. Bank's complaint sought collection on the Stangl Note and set forth a fraud claim for damages. Stangl admitted liability on his note and counterclaimed on Bank's indorsement of the Sargetis Note. Bank raised defenses of mistake, lack of consideration and lack of good faith. No affirmative equitable relief was ever sought. This action was brought as a case at law for damages. Bank sought to keep the benefit of its bargain (the new Stangl Note) and yet to avoid any liability on the Sargetis Note it indorsed which was used to purchase the

---

<sup>3</sup>The burden of pleading and proof is upon the party claiming accommodation status. Hanson v. Cheek, 10 UCC Rep. 670, 475 S.W.2d 526 (Ark. 1972).

Stangl Note. Bank never offered to unwind this transaction and start over. Rather, it sought to selectively enforce those portions of the transaction it liked and to selectively avoid those aspects of the transaction which it disliked. It has elected to affirm the contracts which the alleged fraud concerned (the Sargetis and Stangl Notes) and pursue its fraud claim for damages. See, Estate Counseling Service v. Merrill, Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, 303 F.2d 527, 531 (10th Cir. 1962); Dugan v. Jones, 615 P.2d 1239, 1247 (1980). Hindsight has proven Bank's election to have been unwise. No fraud was proven. However, this does not give Bank the right to claim error, appeal the decision of the court below and bring its claim anew on a different theory.

A. The Claim Of Fraud.

The claim by Bank as to just what constituted the alleged fraud has never been very clear. Early in the case the emphasis seemed to be that perhaps it was lawyer Maak who had deceived lawyer Dearing. However, as evidence was adduced it became apparent that this was not so as the first draft of documents from Bank and its counsel had the same legal effect as those generated after Mr. Maak's involvement. Mr. Maak had no input whatever in the first draft and had not actively negotiated the deal with Mr. Webb at the Bank. The legal die was cast prior to Mr. Maak's involvement. So, if a fraud

occurred which distorted that legal structure it must have been between Stangl and Mr. Webb.

Mr. Webb's complete recollection of his negotiations with Stangl are set forth verbatim, supra at 4. Stangl's recollection concerning the negotiations are found in the record at pages 625-628. A reading of this testimony readily indicates that no misrepresentations of any kind occurred in these negotiations. Bank has conceded this point as its fraud argument treats this as an omission case claiming Stangl failed to disclose the whole truth. [Appellant's Brief at 19] An omission case will lie only where there exists a duty to speak. Such a duty will not be found where the parties deal at arms length and where the underlying facts are reasonably within the knowledge of both parties. Sugarhouse Finance Co. v. Anderson, 610 P.2d 1369, 1373 (Utah 1980).

Here, indorsement of the note was never discussed. The subject never arose. As noted previously, the legal structure of the transaction was a matter negotiated between counsel. Stangl had given his lawyer full authority to negotiate and structure the deal. Stangl was not advised by his counsel that he had the legal right to go against Bank until he was driving to the Bank with his lawyer to close the deal. [R. 612] He did not have a duty to disclose something to Mr. Webb he never even became aware of until a week later. Further, Bank first

came up with the unrestricted indorsement idea. And it did so without any suggestion or prompting by Stangl or his lawyer. In effect, Bank is saying that Stangl had an affirmative duty to advise Bank of the legal effect of instruments which Bank and/or its counsel prepared when both parties were represented in the transaction by legal counsel. Such is not the law of Utah. Bank was obliged to take reasonable steps to protect its own interests. Jardine v. Brunswick Corp., 423 P.2d 659 (Utah 1967). Stangl did not have an affirmative duty to protect Bank from its own negligence--which is what the jury finally found as a matter of fact and law was the proximate cause of its loss. [R. 903-904]

When reduced to its essence, Bank's fraud claim is that Stangl, having decided he wanted to purchase the Sargetis Note, had to disclose in advance to Bank all uses to which the note might be put in the future, even though Stangl himself did not know. Or, in the alternative, that Stangl had an affirmative duty to advise Bank of the legal effect of its own papers even though Bank was represented by counsel.

Bank cites Berkeley Bank for Co-Ops v. Meibos, 607 P.2d 798 (Utah 1980) for the proposition that Stangl had a duty to tell Bank what he intended to do with the Sargetis Note. As stated above, at the time he was negotiating with Webb, Stangl did not know Bank would have indorser liability--the subject was not



discussed and the documents were not prepared. Further, Stangl never himself decided to enforce the indorsement until circumstances compelled the decision in August of 1982. [R. 616] One cannot misrepresent an intent which does not exist. The Meibos case is thus inapposite. If no future intention respecting a given subject even exists, it is impossible to misrepresent that intention.

Once Stangl did learn of his rights respecting the indorsement by Bank, the negotiations were over and the deal was struck. Counsel, with full authority, had reached a compromise where each party had altered their respective positions in order to settle a dispute. Bank now obliquely suggests that Stangl had a duty to then step forward and advise Bank that it should perhaps try to improve its bargain. As noted previously, no such duty exists. Further, given the sequence of events the alleged fraud would not have occurred contemporaneously with the preparation and execution of the instruments and would not have been made to one "unable to judge of its true construction." Gadd v. Olson, 685 P.2d 1041, 1044 (Utah 1984). Thus, no claim of fraud will lie.

Finally, and critical to the duty question here is that this transaction was between sophisticated businessmen who were represented by counsel at all critical stages of the deal. Bank and its counsel were the experts in commercial paper

they dealt in it daily. It was an arms length transaction between parties to a dispute where the posture was adversarial. For this court to require lawyers on opposite sides of a question to disclose their legal theories and intentions to the other side would in effect require them to represent both sides to a dispute at the same time. In fact, an ethical duty exists which prohibits such conduct. The lower court properly ruled that no fraud had been shown.

B. Bank Is Collaterally Estopped To Claim Fraud.

As noted above, the jury found that the proximate cause of Bank's loss was the negligence of Bank and its lawyers Kirton & McConkie. That verdict was not appealed and the judgment on the verdict has been satisfied. By continuing to assert its fraud claim Bank now argues in effect that the cause of its loss was the fraud of Stangl. It cannot be both. The damages claimed for the fraud are identical to those claimed for the negligent acts of Kirton and McConkie. [R. 910-914] Where Bank has chosen to accept the benefits of the judgment against its lawyers rather than appeal, it has lost its right to assert Stangl's alleged fraud as the cause of its loss. The issue of ultimate fact (i.e. the cause of Bank's loss) has been fully and finally adjudicated. Bank has benefitted from such determination and is now collaterally estopped from repudiating the

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